Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jsbmb



Denise Fernandes, Barbara Loi, Cinta Porte*

Environmental Chemistry Department, IDAEA-CSIC, Jordi Girona 18, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 July 2010 Received in revised form 22 November 2010 Accepted 15 December 2010

Keywords: Molluscs Steroids Androgens Estrogens Hormone metabolism Steroidogenesis

ABSTRACT

Molluscs are the second most diverse animal group, they are ecologically important and they are considered excellent indicators of ecosystem health. Some species have been widely used in pollution biomonitoring programs; however, their endocrinology is still poorly known. Despite some studies reporting the presence of (vertebrate-type) steroids in molluscs, information regarding enzymatic pathways involved in steroid synthesis and further catabolism of those steroids is still fragmentary. Regarding steroidogenesis, a number of excellent studies were performed in the 70s using different radio-labelled steroid precursors and detecting the formation of different metabolites. But, since then a long gap of research exist until the late 90s when the 'endocrine disruption' issue raised the need of a better knowledge of mollusc (and invertebrate) endocrinology in order to assess alterations caused by pollutants. Here we summarize past and recent studies dealing with steroid biosynthesis and metabolism in different mollusc species. Most of these studies suggest the involvement of steroids in mollusc reproduction. However, the knowledge is still fragmentary and many questions remain to be answered.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	189
2.	P450 side chain cleavage (P450scc)	190
3.	3α/β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (3α/β-HSDs)	190
4.	5α-Reductases	190
5.	17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (17β -HSDs)	191
6.	Cytochrome P450-dependent biotransformations: aromatization and hydroxylations	193
7.	Sulfotransferases	193
8.	Fatty acid acyl-CoA acyltransferases	193
9.	Final remarks	194
	Acknowledgments	194
	References	194

1. Introduction

An increasing number of studies show that sex steroids are widespread in molluscs [1]. It was initially thought that they were taken up through the diet as many plant species contain vertebrate-like sex steroids [2]. However, several studies have demonstrated that the main classes of molluscs, i.e. cephalopods, gastropods and bivalves, are able to synthesize sex steroids from precursors such as cholesterol or pregnenolone [3–5]. Actually, most of the steroidogenic pathways described for vertebrates have been

 $^{
m tr}$ Article submitted for the special issue on Marine Organisms.

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +34 93 400 6175; fax: +34 93 204 5904. *E-mail addresses:* cinta.porte@cid.csic.es, cpvqam@cid.csic.es (C. Porte). demonstrated to occur in molluscs either by directly exposing the organisms to steroid precursors or by incubating homogenates with those steroid precursors. Together with steroidogenesis, steroid metabolism plays an important role in the regulation of endogenous steroid levels. Most of the enzymes involved in steroid metabolism can metabolize a variety of steroids and, some of them (e.g., hydroxylases, phase II enzymes), can also metabolize a wide range of structurally unrelated molecules. An overview of the major pathways of steroidogenesis and steroid metabolism reported in different mollusc species is given in Fig. 1, and these pathways are described in detail below. Usually, incubation of tissue extracts or subcellular fractions with labelled vertebrate-type precursors have been undertaken, and although information is fragmentary and comes from different species, most crucial enzymatic activities have been detected.

^{0960-0760/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.12.009



Fig. 1. Steroidogenic and metabolic pathways described in molluscs through the measurement of the metabolism of labelled steroids. P450scc: P450 side chain cleavage; 3β - or 17β -HSD: 3β - or 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases; 5α -R: 5α -reductase; ATAT: fatty acid acyl-CoA acyltransferase; SULT: sulfotransferase; DHEA: dihydrogenatore; dihydroandrosterone; 5α -androstane- 3α , 17β -diol. ($- \cdot - \cdot \rightarrow$) phase II metabolism of steroids.

2. P450 side chain cleavage (P450scc)

In vertebrates, P450scc converts cholesterol to pregnenolone by catalyzing three distinct sequential reactions on a single active site. First, cholesterol undergoes 20-hydroxylation, then 22hydroxylation followed by scission of the 20,22 C-C bond to yield both pregnenolone and isocaproaldehyde [6]. While a P450scc homolog has not yet been identified in molluscs, side chain cleavage of labelled precursors has been detected. The conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone was first described by Gottfried and Dorfman [7], although with a very low efficiency. They incubated cholesterol in the presence of $700 \times g$ supernatant fractions obtained from the male phase ovotestis of Ariolimax californicus and detected the formation of pregnenolone (Fig. 1). More recently, Alonso Martínez et al. [8] examined the localization of P450scc in different tissues of the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis along a gonadal cycle by using a polyclonal antibody against rat P450scc. Interestingly, immunoreactivity specific for P450scc was found only in the cytoplasm of basophilic cells from the digestive gland: SDS-gel electrophoresis and western blot analysis revealed that this protein was mainly located in the microsomal fraction. In bivalves, as well as in other molluscs, the ability to synthesize cholesterol does not exist or is very low [9]; therefore, the authors assumed that the cholesterol content was diet dependent, and that an exogenous origin of cholesterol could explain the presence of P450scc in the digestive system and the lack of immunoreactivity in gonadal tissues of M. galloprovincialis. However, the unusual subcellular location of the enzyme in microsomes instead of in the inner mitochondrial membrane as in mammals and the use of heterologous antisera for immunohistochemistry, makes necessary to ascertain the identity of this P450scc recognized protein and its role in pregnenolone biosynthesis.

3. $3\alpha/\beta$ -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases ($3\alpha/\beta$ -HSDs)

3 β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (3 β -HSDs) are enzyme complexes that catalyze both the reduction/oxidation of the 3keto/hydroxyl and the $\Delta 5-\Delta 4$ -isomerization of steroids, such as the conversion of pregnenolone to progesterone. They catalyze the transformations of 5-ene-3 β -hydroxy-steroids ($\Delta 5$ steroids) into 4-ene-3-oxosteroids ($\Delta 4$ steroids) and are involved in the synthesis of all classes of active steroids [10]. The $\Delta 5-\Delta 4$ -isomerase activity associated with 3B-HSD was also demonstrated by Gottfried and Dorfman [7]; the authors detected the formation of progesterone in $700 \times g$ supernatant fractions of male phase ovotestis from the land slug A. californicus using pregnenolone as substrate (Fig. 1). De Longcamp et al. [11] demonstrated the presence of this enzymatic complex in gonad homogenates of the marine mussel *Mytilus edulis* by using pregnenolone, 17α -hydroxypregnenolone, and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) as precursors, but the conversion to the 4-en,3-keto products was rather low. This enzyme complex was also found in the gonad and hepatopancreas of the marine gastropod Aplysia depilans [12], in the testis of the cephalopod Octopus vulgaris [13] and in the dorsal body complex, ovotestis and buccal ganglia of the land snail Helix pomatia [14] among other molluscs. These findings comprise a series of preliminary indications of steroidogenesis in different mollusc species and tissues. Interestingly, Krusch et al. [14] detected higher 3β-HSD activity in the ovotestis of *H. pomatia* before oviposition than after using dehydroepiandrosterone as a substrate. However, 30 years later, the physiological significance of these results remains to be investigated.

In contrast, the 3 α -HSD family of enzymes catalyzes the reduction/oxidation of the keto/hydroxyl group at the 3 α -position. They generally act upon 5 α -reduced steroids and play a central role in regulation of steroid levels by inactivating 5 α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) to 5 α -androstane-3 α ,17 β -diol, a weak androgen in vertebrates [15]. Although 5 α -reduced steroids have been described in molluscs, the presence of 3 α -HSD has not been definitely depicted. Several studies have identified 3 α / β -hydroxylated metabolites in molluscs, but, they did not distinguish between 3 α - and 3 β -isoforms [16–18]; e.g. Morcillo et al. [16] described the formation of 5-androstene-3 α (β),17 β diol from testosterone by microsomal fractions isolated from the digestive gland of the clam *Ruditapes decussata*.

4. 5α-Reductases

These enzymes act upon steroids containing a 4-en,3-keto configuration by reducing the double bond in the A ring. Thus, androstenedione (AD) and testosterone (T) can be converted to 5α -dihydroandrostenedione (DHA) and 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT), respectively. 5α -Reduction precludes the aromatization of androgens to estrogens and promotes intracellular accumulation

Table 1

Evidences of 5α-reductase activity in different molluscs species. AD: androstenedione: Τ: testosterone; DHA: 5α-dihydroandrostenedione; DHT: 5α-dihydrotestosterone.

Species	Tissue (conc. protein)	Substrate	Cofactor	Metabolites formed	Methods ^a	References
Gastropods Marisa cornuarietis	Gonad digestive gland complex (microsomes, 150–400 μg)	[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	DHA: 0.6–14.4 (males) pmol/h/mg prot. DHA: 1.1–48.6 (females) DHT: 0.7–46.4 (males) DHT: 2.7–27.1 (females)	HPLC/TLC/GC-MS (EI)	[19–21]
		[¹⁴ C]-T (10 μM;		DHT: n.d.		[22–24]
Littorina littorea	Digestive gland (microsomes)	150,000 dpm) [¹⁴ C]-T: 7 mM	NADPH (1 mM)	DHT: 401 ± 174 pmol/h/mg protein	TLC	[17]
Helix aspersa	Gonad homogenate	[³ H]-AD (10 µCi)	Absence of NADPH NAD ⁺ , NADPH mix (2 mM)	DHT: n.d. DHT: 6.8% (juveniles) DHT: 4.4 ± 0.4%	HPLC-RD/TLC/GC-MS (EI)	[25]
Hexaplex trunculus	Gonad-digestive gland complex (microsomes, 200 µg)	[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	(adults) DHT: n.d. (males and females) DHA: n.d. (males and	HPLC-RD	[26]
Bolinus brandaris	Gonad-digestive gland complex (microsomes, 200 µg)	[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	females) DHT: 6.5–56 pmol/h/mg protein (males) DHT: 8.7–127 pmol/h/mg protein (females) DHA: 428–1693 pmol/h/mg protein (males) DHA: 192–949 pmol/h/mg protein (females)	HPLC-RD	[26]
Bivalves Ruditapes decussata	Digestive gland (microsomes, 1.5-2 mg)	[¹⁴ C]-T (18 nmol; 1 μCi)	NADPH (0.5 mM) Absence of NADPH	DHT: $9.5 \pm 0.7 \text{ pmol/h/mg}$ protein DHA: $83.5 \pm 55.0 \text{ pmol/h/mg}$ protein DHT: 0 DHA:	TLC	[16]
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Digestive gland (microsomes, 0.4 mg)	[³ H]-AD (0.1 μM; 0.1 μCi)	NADPH (320 μM)	8.0 ± 3.1 pmol/h/mg protein DHA: 25 pmol/h/mg protein (stage 0 – not developed gonads) DHT: 1.8 pmol/h/mg protein (stage 0 – not developed gonads)	HPLC-RD	[21]

^a HPLC-RD or -ECD: high performance liquid chromatography-radiometric detector or -electrochemical detector; TLC: thin layer chromatography; GC-MS (EI): gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (electron impact mode).

of and rogens [19]. In molluscs, 5α -reductase activity has been demonstrated when exposing the gastropods Clione antarctica and Ilvanassa obsoleta to progesterone, AD or T in vivo [18,20]. In addition, a 5 α -reductase activity was reported by incubating T or AD with digestive gland microsomes from the bivalves R. decussata [16] and Mytilus sp. [21], the gastropods Littorina littorea [17] and Marisa cornuarietis [22-24], and with gonad whole homogenates of the gastropod Helix aspersa [25] (see Table 1 for details on the substrates and methods used). Although 5α -reductase plays a key role in the metabolism of AD in molluscs, significant differences, both in terms of activity and metabolic profile, have been observed, confirming the wide diversity of this invertebrate phylum. Thus, Lyssimachou et al. [26] reported that AD was mainly metabolized to DHT by microsomal fractions isolated from the gastropod Bolinus brandaris, whereas no evidence of 5α -reductase activity was detected in Hexaplex trunculus. Additionally, sex differences in the metabolism of AD were detected in B. brandaris where the formation of DHA occurred at a higher rate in males than in females, while the opposite trend was reported for *M. cornuarietis* [22–24,26].

5. 17β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases (17β -HSDs)

The last steps of steroid synthesis and its primary metabolism are catalyzed by 17β-HSDs. These enzymes catalyze the reduction of 17-ketosteroids or the oxidation of 17β-hydroxysteroids using NAD(P)H or NAD(P)+ as cofactor: e.g. they catalyze the intercoversion of androstenedione and testosterone, estrone and 17β-estradiol, or androstanedione and dihydrotestosterone. In vertebrates, 17β -hydroxy forms of androgens and estrogens are active steroids, while those with a 17-keto group have substantially less activity [27]. Most 17β -HSDs belong to the short chain dehydrogenase/reductase family of enzymes, which are known to be

Table 2

Detection of 17β-HSD activity in different mollusc species. AD: androstenedione; T: testosterone; E1: estrone; E2: estradiol; DHEA: dihydro-epiandrosterone.

Specie	Tissue (conc. protein)	Substrate	Cofactor	Metabolites formed	Methods ^a	References
Gastropods Marisa cornuarietis	Gonad-digestive gland complex (microsomes 150–400 µg)	[¹⁴ C]-T (10 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	AD: $0.8 \pm 0.1 \text{ pmol/h/mg}$	HPLC-RD/TLC/GC-MS (EI)	[22–24]
		[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	protein T: 4.9–7.4 pmol/h/mg protein (males) T: 0.6–0.8 pmol/h/mg protein (females)		
Ilyanassa obsoleta	Gonad-digestive gland complex and viscera	[¹⁴ C]-T (40 μM; 80.000 cpm)	Not specified	AD: 40 pmol/h/g	TLC/scintillation	[18]
Hexaplex trunculus	Gonad-digestive gland complex (microsomes 200 µg)	[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	T: 12–27 pmol/h/mg protein (males) T: 12–40 pmol/h/mg protein (females)	HPLC-RD	[26]
Bolinus brandaris	Gonad-digestive gland complex (microsomes 200 µ.g)	[³ H]-AD (0.2 μM; 150,000 dpm)	NADPH (1 mM)	T: n.d. (males) T: 4–76 pmol/h/mg protein (females)	HPLC-RD	[26]
Helix aspersa	Gonad whole homogenates	$[7n-^{3}H]$ -AD (10 µCi)	NAD⁺, NADPH mix (2 mM)	T: 60% (juveniles) T: 7% (adults)	HPLC-RD/ TLC/GC-MS (EI)	[25]
Bivalves						
Crassostrea gigas	Ovarian tissue homogenate	E1: 0.5 μg E2: 0.5 μg	NADPH, NADP ⁺ , NADH, NAD ⁺ mix (5M)	E2: 15–80 ng/g E1: 20 ng/g	HPLC-ECD	[29]
	Gills, digestive gland, gonad-mantle (tissue homogenates)	$[4^{-14}C]$ -AD, $[4^{-14}C]$ -T, $[4^{-14}C]$ -E2, $[4^{-14}C]$ -E1 $(0.1-1 \mu M;$ $0.5-5 \times 10^{6} dpm)$	(3 μM) NADPH (100 μM)	$\begin{array}{l} E2 \rightleftarrows E1^{\rm b} \\ T \rightleftarrows AD \end{array}$	HPLC-RD/TLC	[30]
Crassostrea virginica	Sperm preparations	[4- ¹⁴ C]-E2: 0.01–0.1 μCi [4- ¹⁴ C]-T: 0.01–0.1 μCi	Diphospho- pyridine solution (20 mM)	E1: 122 μM/10 ¹⁰ cells AD: 18.3 μM/10 ¹⁰ cells	РС	[31]
Mytilus edulis	Gonad whole homogenates (500 mg)	$[7\alpha-{}^{3}H]$ -DHEA: 16 Ci $[7\alpha-{}^{3}H]$ -AD: 65 Ci $[4-{}^{14}C]$ -T: 2 Ci $[{}^{14}C]$ -E ₁ : 1 Ci $[6,7-{}^{3}H]$ -E ₂ : 5 Ci	NADPH-generating system	Androstenediol: 6.6–7.3% T: 1.5–2.2% AD: 0.37–0.44% E2: 45–50% E1: 11.7–15.3%	TLC/PC	[11]
Mytilus galloprovincialis	Digestive gland (microsomes 400 µg)	[³ H]-AD (0.1 μM; 0.1 μCi)	$NADPH(320\mu M)$	T: 0.9 pmol/h/mg protein	HPLC-RD	[21]
Ruditapes decussata	Digestive gland (microsomes 1.5-2 mg)	[¹⁴ C]-Τ(18 nmol; 1 μCi)	NADPH (0.5 mM) Absence of NADPH	AD: 749.2 ± 67.7 pmol/h/mg protein AD: 14.5 ± 9.2 pmol/h/mg protein	TLC	[16]
Patinopecten yessoensis	Ovarian tissue homogenate (2.0 ml)	E1: 0.5 μg E2: 0.5 μg	NADPH, NADP⁺, NADH, NAD⁺ mix (5 µM)	E2: 10–60 ng/g E1: 55–120 ng/g	HPLC-ECD	[29]
Cephalopods						
Sepia officinalis	Gonad (300 mg)	$\begin{array}{l} [7\alpha -{}^{3}H] \text{-DHEA:} \\ 4 \times 10^{-2} \ \mu \text{Ci/mg} \\ [7\alpha -{}^{3}H] \text{-AD:} \\ 0.6 \times 10^{-2} \ \mu \text{Ci/mg} \\ [4 -{}^{14}\text{C}] \text{-T:} \\ 2 \times 10^{-2} \ \mu \text{Ci/mg} \end{array}$	NADPH-generating system	Androstenediol: 0.5% T: 1.7–1.0% AD: 0.5%	TLC/PC/scintillation counting	[32]

n.d. = not detected.

^a HPLC-RD or -ECD: high performance liquid chromatography-radiometric detector or -electrochemical detector; TLC: thin layer chromatography; GC-MS (EI): gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (electron impact mode); PC: paper chromatography.

^b Quantification not available.

present in bacteria, fungus, plants and animals [28]. Several studies have reported the presence of 17 β -HSD activity in molluscs; an overview of those studies including the different methods, organisms and tissues investigated, substrates used, and metabolites detected is given in Table 2. Incubations of digestive gland microsomes or gonad whole homogenates with labelled vertebrate-type precursors have evidenced 17 β -HSD activity in different bivalves, e.g. mussels (*M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis*), oysters (*Crassostrea gigas* and *Crassostrea virginica*) and clams (*R. decussata*) [11,16,21,29–31]. Thus, gonad homogenates of *M. edulis* metabolized 17 β -estradiol into estrone (12–15% conversion), and estrone to 17 β -estradiol (45–50% conversion), also dehydroepiandrosterone was metabolized to androstenediol (7%); in contrast, the conversion of androstenedione into testosterone and vice versa was comparatively low (0.37–2.2%) [11]. *In vitro* incubations of ovarian homogenates with estrogens at a concentration of ~1 μ M demonstrated the conversion of 17 β -estradiol into estrone and vice versa, indicating the presence of 17 β -HSD in the ovaries of the scallop *Patinopecten yessoensis*. Interestingly, changes in 17 β -HSD activity were associated to the reproductive cycle of the scallop: the activity was 2-fold higher in individuals at the early differentiation stage than in those at post-spawning [29]. Also in oysters (*C. virginica* and *C. gigas*), the conversion of 17 β -estradiol into estrone and vice versa by 17 β -HSD has been well demonstrated [29–31]. Le Curieux-Belfond et al. [30] reported the conversion of testosterone into androstenedione and vice versa in several tissues of *C. gigas*, i.e., gills, digestive gland and gonad-mantle, using labelled precursors and analyzing the metabolites by TLC and HPLC coupled to radiometric detector (HPLC-RD). The activity of 17 β -HSD increased with sexual maturation and declined after spawning, which reinforces the role of 17 β -HSD as a hormonal biosynthesis pathway in bivalves.

17β-HSD activity has been also reported in other classes of molluscs. In cephalopods, gonads of the cuttlefish (Sepia officinalis) metabolized and rost enedione to test osterone and vice versa as well as DHEA to androstenediol although at relatively low rates [32]. In gastropods, the activity was detected in microsomal fractions isolated from the gonad-digestive gland complex of the freshwater gastropod M. cornuarietis that metabolised androstenedione to testosterone, but no evidence of 17β-HSD activity was detected in cytosolic fractions; the metabolism of androstenedione was NADPH-dependent and linear up to 60 min of incubation [22]. In addition, males of *M. cornuarietis* had higher 17β-HSD activity than females; this observation is consistent with sexual dimorphism in the metabolism of androgens in this species [23,24]. However, no significant differences between males and females were observed for *H. trunculus* regarding 17β-HSD activity, and the opposite trend - high activity in females and no activity in males - was reported for *B. brandaris* [26].

Overall, 17 β -HSDs are widespread enzymes in molluscs. Phylogenetic studies suggest that some of the vertebrate forms descended from an ancestral retinoid dehydrogenase in invertebrates, but those proteins implicated in estrogen synthesis arose from vertebrate-specific duplications and have no orthologues in protostomes [28]. Thus, further work regarding the endogenous role of these enzymes in molluscs is needed, mainly considering the wide substrate spectrum of HSDs, ranging from steroids to retinoids, but also alcohols, sugars, aromatic compounds and xenobiotics.

6. Cytochrome P450-dependent biotransformations: aromatization and hydroxylations

Cytochrome P450 monooxygenase enzymes (CYP) comprise an ancient and widely distributed protein superfamily. P450-type enzymatic activities have been reported in the digestive gland of molluscs [33]. Typically, total P450 protein and associated enzymatic activities in invertebrates are found to be 10-fold lower than in mammals [34]. In vertebrates, testosterone is hydroxylated in a regiospecific and stereospecific manner by many different CYP isozymes [35]. Testosterone hydroxylation has been demonstrated in digestive gland/digestive tube microsomes of molluscs [16,17], but the metabolic rates were much lower than those usually found in vertebrates.

In vertebrates, conversion of androgens (C19 steroids) to estrogens (C18 steroids) is catalyzed by CYP19; this enzyme requires NADPH as a cofactor and involves hydroxylations and dehydrations that culminate in aromatization of the Aring of the androgens. Aromatase activity has been reported in different mollusc species [29,30,36,37] by using the tritiated water release assay, which is based on the quantification of the tritiated water released during [³H]-androstenedione aromatization. Aromatization rates described so far in molluscs are very close to the detection limit of the technique (0.3–3.5 pmol/h/mg protein); however, significant inhibition of aromatase activity by specific CYP inhibitors (miconazole, MR20494) as well as 4-hydroxyandrostenedione suggests the presence in molluscs of a P450 aromatase enzyme similar to that in vertebrates [30]. It would have been interesting to check whether inhibition would have been overcome with an excess of estrogen. Regarding tissue distribution, P450 aromatase specific activity was 3-fold higher in digestive gland than in gonads of *M. edulis*, indicating a more active role of the digestive gland in the aromatization of androgens [34]. Interestingly, Matsumoto et al. [29] described the immunohistochemical localization of 3B-HSD, P450 aromatase and 17β-estradiol in extra-gonadic cells adhering to the wall of the acini in the gonad of the Japanese scallop P. yessoensis, whereas neither hemocytes nor germ cells were labelled. The authors concluded that estrogens can be synthesized in the gonad, and that their levels vary with the reproductive cycle, and therefore they might have a role in the development of gametes. More recently Osada et al. [38] reported immunoreactivity against P450 aromatase and estradiol- 17β in the cells along the inside of the acinar wall of the testis of the same species, and suggested that testicular estrogen may play a physiological role in spermatogenesis. The antibodies used in both studies were rabbit anti-3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, rabbit anti-17β-estradiol and rabbit anti-human P450 aromatase, and their specificity for Japanese scallop might be questioned.

Actually, despite intensive research on *CYP19* genes, no orthologue has been described from fully sequenced invertebrate genomes, like *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Ciona intestinalis* or *Caenorhabditis elegans* [39]. Thus, it has been suggested that the *CYP19* gene arose at the origin of vertebrates [39,40]. Nevertheless, an aromatase homolog has recently been identified in the invertebrate amphioxus [41].

7. Sulfotransferases

Sulfate conjugation modulates the metabolism and biological activity of endogenous substances, including steroids [42]. Sulfation of low-molecular weight compounds such as hydroxysteroids, estrogens, and catecholamines is catalyzed by cytosolic sulfotransferases belonging to a gene superfamily designated as SULT [43]. These cytosolic enzymes utilize 3'-phosphoadenosine 5'-phosphosulfate (PAPS) as the sulfate donor [42]. The sulfation of steroids is considered to have an important role in inhibiting their biological activity and increasing their excretion. In mammalian studies, the sulfated form of the steroids may also serve as soluble, inactive transporters, from which the active steroid may be regenerated by sulfatase activity [42]. Sulfate conjugates of steroid hormones have been observed in molluscs [17,20]. Identification of these compounds was based on their susceptibility to hydrolysis by sulfatases. In vitro sulfation of steroid hormones occurs at rather high metabolic rates in echinoderms, but not in molluscs or crustaceans [44]. Lavado et al. [37] determined the sulfation of estradiol (E2: 110 nM) in cytosolic fractions isolated from both gonads and digestive gland of *M. edulis*; the enzymatic activity showed a maximum at pH 9.0 in both tissues, and the specific activity was always higher in digestive gland than in gonads (up to 2-fold). Interestingly, at pH 9.0, sulfotransferase activity was linear for at least 1 h at concentration of proteins in the assay ranging from 0.05 to 0.4 mg. Under the selected conditions (0.1 mg of proteins, pH 9.0, 110 nM E2, 1 h incubation), the sulfation of E2 by digestive gland cytosolic fractions of control organisms was in the range of 0.5-5.1 pmol/h/mg protein. In another study, Janer et al. [21] showed that digestive gland cytosolic fractions of M. galloprovincialis can form estradiol sulfates at a rate of 6-12 pmol/h/mg protein; however, estradiol sulfation was not significantly altered by estradiol exposure.

8. Fatty acid acyl-CoA acyltransferases

Fatty acid conjugation (or esterification) renders steroids to an apolar form, which is retained within the lipoidal matrices of the body, and reduces their bioactivity, bioavailability, and susceptibility to elimination [45]. Esterification might have a regulatory function by inactivating steroids. Steroid esters do not bind steroid receptors, but they can be hydrolyzed by esterases liberating the active steroid; they are considered to be long-acting steroids [46] and esterification is known to occur in both vertebrate and invertebrate species. Sex steroid esters have been reported in molluscs [44,47,48]. It has been suggested that esterification is the major biotransformation pathway for testosterone in snails, based on the reports that exogenously provided testosterone or estradiol are converted to fatty acid esters and retained in the tissues of the organism by the mud snail *L* obsoleta [47] or the mussel *M*. galloprovincialis [21]. In addition, steroid esterification has been implicated in the regulation of free steroid levels. Gooding and LeBlanc [49] observed that, irrespective of the amount of testosterone administered to the snails, the amount of free testosterone measured in the tissues of the organism remains relatively constant and all excess of testosterone is converted to the fatty acid ester. Similar results were obtained when M. galloprovincialis were exposed to 20-200 ng/L estradiol [21]. However, future research is required to study the mechanism of esterification of steroids as well as the esterases responsible for releasing steroids from the fatty acid moiety, and the process that affect/regulate the equilibrium between synthesis and hydrolysis of this family of steroids.

9. Final remarks

In the last decade, the presence of pollutants in the aquatic environment has lead to an increasing number of endocrine disruption studies concerning both vertebrates and invertebrates and involving physiological processes controlled by steroid hormones. Thus, a better understanding of the role of steroids in invertebrates became a strong need for ecotoxicologists. Nonetheless, in spite of a number of studies being performed to better understand the endocrine functions of steroids in molluscs, the knowledge is still fragmentary. As shown in the present review, although the information obtained from different species strongly suggests the involvement of (vertebrate related) steroids in the control of mollusc reproduction, a complete scheme of vertebrate-related steroid biosynthesis (enzymatic pathways and steroidogenic cells and tissues), transport, target tissues, and further catabolism is lacking. In spite of recent advances, most questions on the action and function of sex steroids in molluscs remain to be answered: (1) most of the enzymes mentioned in this review $(3\alpha/\beta-HSDs, 5\alpha$ reductases, 17β-HSDs) have not been functionally characterized and their genes have not been cloned; (2) efforts to identify an androgen receptor from molluscs have been so far unsuccessful [50,51]. Although estrogen receptor orthologs have been found in representatives of the major groups of molluscs (*M. edulis, C. gigas,* Aplysia californica, O. vulgaris), ligand studies have shown that these receptors do not respond to estrogens [52-55]. Altogether, this opens the question of whether alternative mechanisms of action for androgens and estrogens may exist in molluscs [56,57], and points out the need to deeply investigate those mechanisms.

Acknowledgments

Denise Fernandes acknowledges a postdoctoral fellowship (SFRH/BPD/34289/2006) from the Portuguese Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) of the Ministry of Science and Technology of Portugal. Barbara Loi acknowledges a Programme Master and Back fellowship (TI-1688) from the Regione Autonoma Della Sardegna. Work supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Education under Project Ref. CGL2008-01888/BOS.

References

 G. Janer, C. Porte, Sex steroids and potential mechanisms of non-genomic endocrine disruption in invertebrates, Ecotoxicology 16 (2007) 145–160.

- [2] A. Janeczko, A. Skoczowski, Mammalian sex hormones in plants, Folia Histochem. Cytobiol. 43 (2005) 71–79.
- [3] J.G. Lehoux, T. Sandor, The occurrence of steroids and steroid metabolizing enzyme systems in invertebrates, Steroids 16 (1970) 141–171.
- [4] R. Lafont, Reverse endocrinology, or "hormones" seeking functions, Insect Biochem. 21 (1991) 697–721.
- [5] R. Lafont, M. Mathieu, Steroids in aquatic invertebrates, Ecotoxicology 16 (2007) 109–130.
- [6] W.L. Miller, Androgen biosynthesis from cholesterol to DHEA, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 198 (2002) 7–14.
- [7] H. Gottfried, R.I. Dorfman, Steroids of invertebrates. V. The in vitro biosynthesis of steroids by the male-phase ovotestis of the slug (*Ariolimax californicus*), Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 15 (1970) 120–138.
- [8] A. Alonso Martínez, Y. Ruiz Muñoz, F. San Juan Serrano, P. Molist García, Immunolocalization of cholesterol side chain cleavage enzyme (P450scc) in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and its induction by nutritional levels, J. Comp. Physiol. 178B (2008) 647–654.
- [9] A. Kanazawa, Sterols in marine invertebrates, Fish. Sci. 67 (2001) 997-1007.
- [10] L. Peng, J. Arensburg, J. Orly, A.H. Payne, The murine 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3β-HSD) gene family: a postulated role for 3β-HSD VI during early pregnancy, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 187 (2002) 213–221.
- [11] D. De Longcamp, P. Lubet, M. Drosdowsky, The in vitro biosynthesis of steroids by the gonad of the mussel (*Mytilus edulis*), Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 22 (1974) 116–127.
- [12] C. Lupo di Prisco, F. Dessi' Fulgheri, Alternative pathways of steroid biosynthesis in gonads and hepatopancreas of *Aplysia depilans*, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 50B (1975) 191–195.
- [13] A. D'Aniello, A. Di Cosmo, C. Di Cristo, L. Assisi, V. Botte, M.M. Di Fiore, Occurrence of sex steroid hormones and their binding proteins in *Octopus vulgaris* Lam., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 227 (1996) 782–788.
- [14] B. Krusch, H.J.N. Schoenmakers, P.A. Voogt, A. Nolte, Steroid synthesizing capacity of the dorsal body of *Helix pomatia* L. (Gastropoda)—an in vitro study, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 64B (1979) 101–104.
- [15] T.M. Penning, Y. Jin, V.V. Heredia, M. Lewis, Structure-function relationships in 3α-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases: a comparison of the rat and human isoforms, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 85 (2003) 247–255.
- [16] Y. Morcillo, M.J.J. Ronis, C. Porte, Effects of tributyltin on the Phase I testosterone metabolism and steroid titres of the clam *Ruditapes decussata*, Aquat. Toxicol. 42 (1998) 1–13.
- [17] M.J.J. Ronis, A.Z. Mason, The metabolism of testosterone by the periwinkle (*Littorina littorea*) in vitro and in vivo: effects of tribultyltin, Mar. Environ. Res. 42 (1996) 161–166.
- [18] E. Oberdörster, D. Rittscho, P. McClellan-Green, Testosterone metabolism in imposex and normal *Ilyanassa obsoleta*: comparison of field and TBT Cl-induced imposex, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 36 (1998) 144–151.
- [19] J.D. Wilson, The role of 5α -reduction in steroid hormone physiology, Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 13 (2001) 673–678.
- [20] G.A. Hines, P.J. Bryan, K.M. Wasson, J.B. McClintock, S.A. Watts, Sex steroid metabolism in the antarctic pteropod *Clione antarctica* (Mollusca: Gastropoda), Invert. Biol. 115 (1996) 113–119.
- [21] G. Janer, R. Lavado, R. Thibaut, C. Porte, Effects of 17β-estradiol exposure in the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis: a possible regulating role for acyltransferases, Aquat. Toxicol. 75 (2005) 32–42.
- [22] G. Janer, G.A. LeBlanc, C. Porte, Identification of vertebrate-type steroid metabolism in three invertebrate species: a comparative study on androgen metabolism, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 143 (2005) 211–221.
- [23] G. Janer, J. Bachmann, J. Oehlmann, U. Schulte-Oehlmann, C. Porte, The effect of organotin compounds on gender specific androstenedione metabolism in the freshwater ramshorn snail *Marisa cornuarietis*, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 99 (2006) 147–156.
- [24] A. Lyssimachou, J. Bachmann, C. Porte, Short-term exposure to the organotin compound triphenyltin modulates esterified steroid levels in females of *Marisa cornuarietis*, Aquat. Toxicol. 89 (2008) 129–135.
- [25] D. Le Guellec, M.C. Thiard, J.P. Remy-Martin, A. Deray, L. Gomot, G.L. Adessi, In vitro metabolism of androstenedione and identification of endogenous steroids in *Helix aspersa*, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 66 (1987) 425–433.
- [26] A. Lyssimachou, M. Ramón, C. Porte, Comparative study on the metabolism of the androgen precursor androstenedione in two gastropod species: in vitro alterations by TBT and TPT, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 149 (2009) 409–413.
- [27] F. Labrie, V. Luu-The, S.X. Lin, C. Labrie, J. Simard, R. Breton, A. Bélanger, The key role of 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid biology, Steroids 62 (1997) 148–158.
- [28] M.E. Baker, Evolution of 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases and their role in androgen, estrogen and retinoid action, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 171 (2001) 211–215.
- [29] T. Matsumoto, M. Osada, Y. Osawa, K. Mori, Gonadal estrogen profile and immunohistochemical localization of steroidogenic enzymes in the oyster and scallop during sexual maturation, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 118B (1997) 811–817.
- [30] O. Le Curieux-Belfond, S. Moslemi, M. Mathieu, G.E. Séralini, Androgen metabolism in oyster *Crassostrea gigas*: evidence for 17β-HSD activities and characterization of an aromatase-like activity inhibited by pharmacological compounds and a marine pollutant, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 78 (2001) 359–366.
- [31] R.R. Hathaway, Conversion of estradiol-17β by sperm preparations of sea urchins and oysters, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 5 (1965) 504–508.

- [32] S. Carreau, M. Drosdowsky, The in vitro biosynthesis of steroids by the gonad of the cuttlefish (*Sepia officinalis L.*), Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 33 (1977) 554–565.
- [33] M.J. Snyder, Cytochrome P450 enzymes in aquatic invertebrates: recent advances and future directions, Aquat. Toxicol. 48 (2000) 529–547.
- [34] D.R. Livingstone, Organic xenobiotic metabolism in marine invertebrates, in: R. Gilles (Ed.), Advances in Comparative and Environmental Physiology, vol. 7, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991, pp. 46–185.
- [35] D.J. Waxman, A. Ko, C. Walsh, Regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of androgen hydroxylation catalyzed by cytochrome P-450 isozymes purified from phenobarbital-induced rat liver, J. Biol. Chem. 10 (1983) 11937–11947.
- [36] Y. Morcillo, C. Porte, Evidence of endocrine disruption in the imposex-affected gastropod *Bolinus brandaris*, Environ. Res. Sect. 81A (1999) 349–354.
- [37] R. Lavado, G. Janer, C. Porte, Steroid levels and steroid metabolism in the mussel Mytilus edulis: the modulation effect of dispersed crude oil and alkylphenols, Aquat. Toxicol. 78 (2006) 65–72.
- [38] M. Osada, H. Tawarayama, K. Mori, Estrogen synthesis in relation to gonadal development of Japanese scallop, *Patinopecten yessoensis*: gonadal profile and immunolocalization of P450 aromatase and estrogen, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 139B (2004) 123–128.
- [39] M.E. Baker, Co-evolution of steroidogenic and steroid-inactivating enzymes and adrenal and sex steroid receptors, Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 215 (2004) 55–62.
- [40] D.R. Nelson, Metazoan cytochrome P450 evolution, Comp. Biochem. Physio. C: Pharmacol. Toxicol. Endocrinol. 121 (1998) 15–22.
- [41] L.F.C. Castro, M.M. Santos, M.A. Reis-Henriques, The genomic environment around the Aromatase gene: evolutionary insights, BMC Evol. Biol. 5 (2005) 43.
- [42] C.A. Strott, Steroid sulfotransferases, Endocrin. Rev. 17 (1996) 670–697.
- [43] R.M. Weinshilboum, D.M. Otterness, I.A. Aksoy, T.C. Wood, C. Her, R.B. Raftogianis, Sulfation and sulfotransferases 1: sulfotransferase molecular biology: cDNAs and genes, FASEB J. 11 (1997) 3–14.
- [44] G. Janer, R.M. Stenberg, G.A. LeBlanc, C. Porte, Testosterone conjugating activities in invertebrates: are they targets for endocrine disruptors? Aquat. Toxicol. 71 (2005) 273-282.
- [45] W. Borg, C. Shackleton, S.L. Pahuja, R.B. Hochburg, Long-lived testosterone esters in the rat, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92 (1995) 1545–1549.

- [46] B. Hochberg, Biological esterification of steroids, Endocr. Rev. 19 (1998) 331-348.
- [47] M.P. Gooding, G.A. LeBlanc, Biotransformation and disposition of testosterone in the eastern mud snail *Ilyanassa obsoleta*, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 122 (2001) 172–180.
- [48] G. Janer, S. Mesia-Vela, C. Porte, F.C. Kauffman, Esterification of vertebratetype steroids in the Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*), Steroids 69 (2004) 129–136.
- [49] M.P. Gooding, G.A. LeBlanc, Seasonal variation in the regulation of testosterone levels in the eastern mud snail (*Ilyanassa obsoleta*), Invert. Biol. 123 (2004) 237–243.
- [50] R.B. Sternber, A.K. Hotchkis, G.A. LeBlanc, The contribution of steroidal androgens and estrogens to reproductive maturation of the eastern mud snail *Ilyanassa obsoleta*, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 156 (2008) 15–26.
- [51] A.M. Reitzel, A.M. Tarrant, Correlated evolution of androgen receptor and aromatase revisited, Mol. Biol. Evol. 27 (2010) 2211–2215.
- [52] M. Kishida, R. Nakao, A. Novillo, I.P. Callard, M. Osada, Molecular cloning and expression analysis of cDNA fragments related to estrogen receptor from blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*, Proc. Jap. Soc. Comp. Endocrinol. 20 (2005) 75.
- [53] T. Matsumoto, A.M. Nakamura, K. Mori, I. Akiyama, H. Hirose, Y. Takahashi, Oyster estrogen receptor: cDNA cloning and immunolocalization, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 151 (2007) 195–201.
- [54] J.W. Thornton, E. Need, D. Crews, Resurrecting the ancestral steroid receptor: ancient origin of estrogen signaling, Science 301 (2003) 1714–1717.
- [55] J. Keay, J.T. Bridgham, J.W. Thornton, The Octopus vulgaris estrogen receptor is a constitutive transcriptional activator: evolutionary and functional implications, Endocrinology 147 (2006) 3861–3869.
- [56] G.B. Stefano, W. Zhu, K. Mantione, D. Jones, E. Salamon, J.J. Cho, P. Cadet, 17β-Estradiol downregulates ganglionic microglial cells via nitric oxide release: presence of an estrogen receptor β transcript, Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 24 (2003) 130–136.
- [57] L. Canesi, C. Borghi, R. Fabbri, C. Ciacci, L.C. Lorusso, G. Gallo, L. Vergani, Effects of 17β-estradiol on mussel digestive gland, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 153 (2007) 40–46.